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          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Good afternoon.

          3  I'm Helen Diane Foster.  This is the Committee on

          4  Parks and Recreation. Welcome.

          5                 This is the second part of our

          6  hearing on Expense Budget and how the Parks and

          7  Recreation Department distributes money.  Our last

          8  hearing was scheduled for the first day of the

          9  Transit strike.  Today I was wondering if it was

         10  going to happen because of the snow but,

         11  nonetheless, everybody is here.

         12                 Let me just note that Education is

         13  having a meeting next door so, at some point, some

         14  of us are going to have to run next door to vote and

         15  be marked present.

         16                 Let me thank the Parks Department on

         17  behalf of my kids in Cortona Park.  They had an

         18  excellent time yesterday in the snow.  If I had

         19  lived closer, I was actually -- I like playing in

         20  the snow, they had the sleds and the kids had a

         21  blast in the park yesterday.  So, thank you for

         22  making the snow fun.  I kind of agree with the kids,

         23  it's too bad it couldn't happen on a school day

         24  'cause you have more fun outside in the snow when

         25  you're home from school.
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          2                 Let's get right into it.  We have

          3  testifying on behalf of the Parks Department Liam

          4  Kavanagh, who is First Deputy Commissioner and --

          5  Oh, you're new.  Please introduce yourself because I

          6  was going to go right into more and all of her

          7  answers but now I can go to you.

          8                 MS. KING:  Danielle King, and I work

          9  in Government Relations for the Parks Department.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  One more time.

         11  Danielle King?

         12                 MS. KING:  King.  Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Oh, welcome.

         14  And let me introduce --

         15                 MR. KAVANAGH:  And a resident of the

         16  Bronx, I might add.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Oh, really?

         18  Where?

         19                 MS. KING:  (Not using the microphone.

         20  Inaudible.)

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay.  You're a

         22  little farther north, but we'll accept you.  Let me

         23  welcome, we have Dennis Gallagher from Queens; we

         24  have Patrick, who is new to the Committee.  Welcome,

         25  Patrick.  Freddie Kaplan, who is Counsel to the
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          2  Committee, and Alan Gerson, who is on the phone

          3  right now.  People will be running in and out

          4  because right now there's a press conference going

          5  on about Education, and then there will be an

          6  Education Committee.

          7                 But that having been said, Deputy

          8  Commissioner, you can jump right in when you're

          9  ready.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:  Thank

         11  you, Chairwoman Foster.  And my greetings to Council

         12  Member Gallagher and Council Member Gerson.

         13                 On behalf of Mayor Bloomberg, our

         14  First Deputy Mayor, Patricia Harris and Commissioner

         15  Benepe, I want to thank you for the opportunity to

         16  discuss our Parks' executive budget throughout the

         17  five boroughs.

         18                 Let me first thank Chairwoman Foster

         19  for acknowledging the nice work done in Cortona Park

         20  yesterday.  Sanitation deserves all of the credit

         21  for the tremendous job they've done in clearing the

         22  streets of snow but hundreds of parkies were also

         23  out there clearing snow and making parks like

         24  Cortona available for kids to have a good time.  I'm

         25  glad they did.
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          2                 With me today is our Comptroller,

          3  David Stark, and you just met Danielle King, who is

          4  our new Government Relations Staff person.

          5                 In December I discussed briefly how

          6  the Expense Budget provides the resources to operate

          7  and maintain the full array of park facilities

          8  throughout the City.  I will briefly review those

          9  comments and add some additional information about

         10  how we distribute resources to manage our

         11  responsibilities effectively.

         12                 The Expense Budget is primarily used

         13  to insure that our 1,800 parks and playgrounds are

         14  clean, safe and welcoming to the millions of people

         15  who use them each year.  Under Mayor Bloomberg,

         16  Parks' budget has increased substantially.  The

         17  Fiscal Year 2006 adopted budget was $283 million.

         18  Up from $209.7 million in Fiscal Year 2002.  This

         19  increase is almost entirely due to funds for the

         20  Parks Opportunity Program which provides work

         21  experience, training, counseling and job placement

         22  services for people who are moving from public

         23  assistance into the workforce.

         24                 The Parks' budget now includes $42.5

         25  million in intra- city funds for this Program and
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          2  another $6 million to hire approximately 500 Job

          3  Training participants, JTPs, for an additional six

          4  months as seasonal park employees.  Mayor Bloomberg

          5  earlier provided $15 million in the Parks' to fund

          6  the Parks' supervisory core which insures that this

          7  critical component of our workforce is completely

          8  under the direction of the Parks Commissioner.

          9                 Of our $283 million budget,

         10  approximately $190 million is distributed among the

         11  five boroughs to support the full range of

         12  maintenance and operation functions performed by the

         13  Parks Department.  This money is allocated to the

         14  Urban Park Service, forestry, our seasonal plan, the

         15  Parks Opportunity Program as I mentioned, recreation

         16  and our basic maintenance and operations division.

         17                 Approximately $93 million is devoted

         18  to fixed costs or programs that are managed

         19  centrally including administration, capital, fleet

         20  management and Other than Personnel Services.

         21                 The largest portion of the budget,

         22  close to $96 million, is dedicated to maintaining

         23  and operating all of our parks, playgrounds and

         24  facilities on a daily basis.  To fairly distribute

         25  these funds, we consider the amount of developed
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          2  park land that is directly managed by Parks in each

          3  borough, population size, both residential

          4  population and the daytime population of each

          5  borough and the number and type of facilities

          6  actively managed in each borough.  This results in a

          7  fair distribution of City resources across all five

          8  boroughs and allows us to apply consistent standards

          9  across the entire system.

         10                 Parks manages almost 29,000 acres of

         11  park land, a significant portion of which is

         12  undeveloped or maintained as natural areas which

         13  requires a different standard of care than active

         14  recreation space or developed park properties.

         15  Approximately 6,000 acres are maintained by other

         16  entities such as the golf concessions, non- profit

         17  organizations like the Wildlife Conservation Society

         18  or the New York Botanical Gardens and other City

         19  agencies such as DOT.

         20                 Population, of course, impacts park

         21  usage.  From 1990 to 2000, the City's overall

         22  population grew by 685,000 residents or 9.4%.  Each

         23  borough experiences some level of growth. Staten

         24  Island's population increased by 17%, and Queens

         25  with 270,000 new residents is the highest total
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          2  number of new population in any borough.

          3                 In addition to total population, the

          4  City's weekday population also affects park usage.

          5  Four in the five boroughs experience a drop in day-

          6  time population while Manhattan grows by 1.3 million

          7  or 45% on an average weekday.

          8                 The number and type of facilities

          9  vary widely by borough.  However, in each borough,

         10  playgrounds receive the most consistent use any park

         11  property.  Playgrounds tend to have more elements

         12  such as play equipment and spray showers that

         13  require regular inspection and repair.  In addition,

         14  playgrounds often have conference stations which

         15  demand regular attention during the course of the

         16  day.

         17                 Recreation centers are open either

         18  six or seven days a week for sometimes as many as 18

         19  hours a day and vary in size, features and placement

         20  around the city.  Summer is, of course, prime time

         21  for parks and recreation.  Seasonal operations have

         22  a major impact on our planning and budget.  Parks,

         23  playgrounds, pools and beaches are the summer

         24  vacation for many city kids.  Ball field use peaks

         25  during the summer and playgrounds draw large crowds,
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          2  in part due to our over 630 spray showers.

          3                 From Memorial Day to Labor Day Parks

          4  operate 14 miles of beach, almost 9.5 miles of which

          5  are open to swimming. This requires a large summer

          6  staffing contingent of life guards, Park Enforcement

          7  Patrol officers, equipment operators and general

          8  maintenance staff.  From the last week in June

          9  through Labor Day, we operate 52 outdoor pools, ten

         10  of which are considered Olympic size though, in

         11  fact, they are larger than the Olympic standard; 23

         12  intermediate pools and 19 mini pools.

         13                 In addition to lifeguards, PAP and

         14  maintenance staff, large pools require overnight

         15  staffing for security and filter maintenance and

         16  technical staff to keep the mechanical systems

         17  humming.  Long summer days also mean more activity

         18  in parks across the board with events, concerts,

         19  festivals and programs taking place in parks all

         20  over the City.

         21                 Parks and Recreation maintains over

         22  500,000 street trees and approximately 2.5 million

         23  park trees.  Forestry resources are divided

         24  according to the percentage of street trees in each

         25  borough with Queens receiving approximately 47%,
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          2  Brooklyn almost 24%, Staten Island approximately

          3  13%, the Bronx 9% and Manhattan 7% of the resources.

          4    Forestry Operations focus on removing dead trees

          5  within 30 days of inspection, managing the block

          6  pruning program, the goal of which is to prune every

          7  tree greater than six inches in diameter every ten

          8  years and responding to emergency.

          9                 Parks operations, like most City

         10  agencies, are required by the City Charter to be co-

         11  terminus with the City's 59 community boards.  Each

         12  district has a local service chief, staff and

         13  equipment assigned to it.  All Park properties are

         14  subject to random inspections conducted by the

         15  Operations and Management Planning Division which

         16  applies objective standards to up to 16 specific

         17  features commonly found in parks and playgrounds and

         18  assesses their cleanliness and structural condition.

         19    The results are tabulated by district, borough and

         20  city- wide and are used to guide local, borough and

         21  city- wide management strategies.

         22                 When repairs or renovations exceed

         23  our maintenance capacities, we turn to the capital

         24  program for improvements.  The Mayor's Requirement

         25  Contract Program provides about $13 million each
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          2  year to quickly replace deteriorated park features

          3  and infrastructure.  We also work with community

          4  boards and local elected officials to prioritize

          5  capital improvements when necessary.  Fortunately

          6  the Council has generous supported Park projects.

          7                 While the expense and capital budgets

          8  are instrumental to our park system, Parks do not

          9  thrive solely through those two means.  Among the

         10  other strategies we use to manage Parks are the

         11  Partnership for Parks, Catalyst for Neighborhood

         12  Parks and the Neighborhood Park Initiative.

         13  Partnership for Parks, a joint program of Parks and

         14  Recreation and the City Parks Foundation, nurtures

         15  community involvement.  By identifying individuals

         16  who are interested in volunteering in parks and

         17  developing stewardship groups, Partnership for Parks

         18  creates strong, sustainable organizations that

         19  support parks.

         20                 The commitment of volunteers can

         21  improve a park's atmosphere, transforming it into a

         22  haven where people can come to relax and feel

         23  welcome and safe.  Through programming, community

         24  groups draw people to parks for special events such

         25  as festivals and clean- up days.  In addition,
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          2  community groups become another set of eyes and ears

          3  for the agency.  Our dedicated volunteers are

          4  intimately familiar with their parks and their

          5  feedback and input are invaluable when we redesign a

          6  playground, landscape a park, or make decisions

          7  about locking areas in the evening.

          8                 Partnership for Parks has created a

          9  city- wide network of park volunteers.  In 2004,

         10  42,707 volunteers spent over a million hours working

         11  to make our parks great and over 53% of all parks

         12  have an affiliated volunteer group.  It's difficult

         13  to put a dollar amount on their time but our

         14  volunteers are as important as many of the set items

         15  in our expense budget.

         16                 In 2003, we launched the Catalyst for

         17  Neighborhood Parks project with the City Parks

         18  Foundation.  This project builds community support

         19  and fosters the improvement of 16 parks in four

         20  areas of the City.  In Fiscal Year 2006, the City

         21  Parks Foundation raised nearly $600,000 in private

         22  funding to support the Catalyst Program.  Since the

         23  beginning of the Catalyst Program in October 2003,

         24  it has generated or leveraged $12.9 million of

         25  public and private funds.
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          2                 Another public/private partnership,

          3  the Neighborhood Park Initiative had a successful

          4  first year.  Thanks to our partnership with New York

          5  Parks, the Central Park Conservancy, the City Parks

          6  Foundation and the City Council, this program

          7  improved the maintenance and programming at 30 parks

          8  across the City. Private funds help pay for full-

          9  time gardeners, trained by the Central Park

         10  Conservancy and a four- month Playground Associate

         11  at each site.  On the capital side, there were

         12  millions of dollars from the Council for water

         13  service and landscape improvements.

         14                 Finally, Partnership for Parks has

         15  been working to create local friends groups for the

         16  30 parks that are part of the initiative.  I hope

         17  this discussion of the Parks Expense Budget was

         18  helpful to you and we'd be happy to answer any

         19  questions at this time.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.  I

         21  just said to Freddie, I don't know where I want to

         22  start with questioning.

         23                 I'm going to just go through your

         24  testimony as I made notes.  With the JTPs, how many-

         25  I'm assuming for the seasonal employees from that
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          2  pool then you can hire full- time permanent

          3  employees?

          4                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          5  When we have openings available, yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  How often does

          7  that occur or is it hit or miss depending on when

          8  someone-

          9                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         10  It doesn't occur on a regular cycle. It's usually on

         11  the basis of the amount of attrition we've

         12  experienced over a set period of time.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And so then does

         14  it- just walk me through it, are these six- month

         15  seasonal employees, after the six months- what I'm

         16  trying to say is then, do you call them back for

         17  whenever the season comes again.  Or is it, you use

         18  them, train them, whatever, and then do a new batch

         19  when you need other seasonal employees.

         20

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         22  No, each year we look at the population of job

         23  training participants that are in the agency.  It is

         24  used as an encouragement for employees who have

         25  performed very well but who have not yet found a job
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          2  in the private sector.  So, we continue to work with

          3  them while they are seasonal employees. They can

          4  still avail themselves of the job placement services

          5  and the job counseling.  But, at the end of the six-

          6  month period, their employment with Parks ends.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay. I'm sorry,

          8  we've been joined by Council Member Letitia James

          9  from Brooklyn who was here and stepped out of the

         10  room and Council Member Melinda Katz who isn't on

         11  the Committee but, welcome.

         12                 When you talk about population, on

         13  page two, the third paragraph, population and the

         14  increase due.  Are the programs that are done by the

         15  Department of Parks and Recreation, at say

         16  recreational facilities or such, reflective of those

         17  population increases?

         18                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         19  As of now they're not tied directly to the

         20  population increases.  We are more, sort of,

         21  constrained by the facilities that we operate.  So,

         22  for example, when you mentioned recreation

         23  programming, our recreation programming is pretty

         24  much tied to the centers.  They've been in place, in

         25  many cases, for decades if not longer.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Would you be

          3  able, I don't know if you know off- hand or if you

          4  can provide it, in each borough the recreational

          5  facilities and the services they provide and the

          6  service area they catch?

          7                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          8  Certainly we can provide that information to you,

          9  yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  It would just be

         11  interesting to see by borough the breakdown and then

         12  what areas might be under served or over- served and

         13  how we, as a team in terms of the Council and the

         14  Parks can play with resources.

         15                 Something that, I call it the dance-

         16  the tree pruning- Council puts back in back and

         17  forth and it is a big issue specially in Queens;

         18  areas of the Bronx.  I know Nick, one of the

         19  Sergeant at Arms, we have been working with a tree

         20  that is on City property but hangs over his house

         21  for months.  He's like Council Member and I'm like,

         22   "Nick trust me, I have called and called and I'm

         23  working on it."  But, could you walk me through the

         24  process of tree- pruning, how it happens and the

         25  funding and how much it takes and then, the process
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          2  by which we plant trees.  Because, I have Jim from

          3  my staff walks around and I have a list, pages of

          4  empty tree pits in the district.  When the weather

          5  gets warm, that's what he does at lunch- looks for

          6  empty tree pits.  I know but, really that exciting.

          7  But, anyway just so we can go through this process

          8  because, as we know, it's cut and we put back in and

          9  it is a big concern of the Council.  I think if we

         10  better understood maybe the expense around tree

         11  pruning and what we can do to make sure that it's

         12  not cut every year and we don't have to put it back,

         13  would be helpful.

         14                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         15  Okay.  In terms of tree pruning, about ten years ago

         16  the Parks Department made the decision to manage the

         17  street tree population in the most effective manner

         18  possible.  That means that we focus our staff on two

         19  things that is, removing dead trees which are, of

         20  course, the most potentially dangerous aspect of the

         21  street trees, and responding to emergencies.

         22                 Pruning, we developed a Block Pruning

         23  Program which is the most cost- effective and, sort

         24  of, the most efficient way to manage this resource.

         25  Our goal is to prune every tree greater than six
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          2  inches in diameter at least once every ten years.  I

          3  think now we are probably on a cycle that's closer

          4  to once every eight years.

          5                 So the majority of the pruning that

          6  takes place in the City is done through that

          7  program, the Block Pruning Program, and between 30

          8  and 35,000 trees get pruned each year through that

          9  system.  We do prune trees ourselves occasionally.

         10  We try to limit that pruning to cases where there is

         11  either a situation that poses a potential danger to

         12  the public, that is, a tree is blocking a traffic

         13  signal or a traffic devise.  A tree is actually

         14  causing structural damage to a house or some other

         15  building.  Or a tree has significant dead wood where

         16  it does not warrant the removal of the tree but it

         17  could present a potential hazard to the public or

         18  property.

         19                 The public has, you know, does

         20  request a lot of tree pruning but doesn't fall into

         21  those categories.  Unfortunately, we have to rely on

         22  the Block Pruning Program to address the more

         23  routine requests.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Is there, or do

         25  you have a program- just pretend I happened to be an
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          2  expert tree pruner and I want to volunteer my tree

          3  pruning services, do you have some type of facility

          4  or some way that we can pull together tree pruners

          5  so, for example, you know, whenever it's needed.

          6  I'm assuming there are tree pruners out there who

          7  would love to volunteer their services.

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          9  If there are tree pruners, if they are qualified

         10  arbors out there who want to volunteer, we'd be

         11  happy to issue them permits.  The permits are free

         12  of charge.  We just need to make sure that, whoever

         13  is doing work in a tree is qualified and we'll

         14  consider the tree's health first.

         15                 There is another program, it's run by

         16  Trees New York.  It's called the Citizen Pruner

         17  Program and it does empower people to do what we

         18  call low- growth pruning.  That is, pruning that can

         19  be reached from the grown with a pull- saw.  You do

         20  have to complete their training course.  It's

         21  offered in the Spring and the Fall, I think, in all

         22  five boroughs.  There are literally thousands of

         23  certified citizen pruners out there who can do some

         24  work on trees.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  In this ten-

                                                            21

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  year, that's more like an eight- year cycle, is that

          3  sufficient.  Meaning, should we be looking at maybe,

          4  just to throw a number, a five- year pruning cycle

          5  or is that the norm in the field.

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          7  The industry standard tends to be five to seven

          8  years.  But, in fact, it varies greatly depending on

          9  the species of the tree.  Some trees probably should

         10  be pruned more frequently.  Others less frequently.

         11  But, when you're dealing with such a volume,

         12  establishing one standard is probably the most

         13  effective way to go.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  With the Parks

         15  Department, when we start with the scope and design

         16  and meeting with the community when we're either

         17  refurbishing a park of building a new one, in that

         18  expense aspect of it, do we build- in maintenance of

         19  the park? I know, often, Council Members redo a park

         20  in our community or whatever.  Is there a way or do

         21  you currently have, in that budget, putting money

         22  for maintenance.  I think it's great, if we

         23  refurbish and we do the ribbon cutting, but if

         24  aren't putting funds in to maintain it, we're going

         25  to be ribbon cutting like the tree cycle every ten
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          2  years.

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          4  Of course, we consider maintenance when we're

          5  designing capital projects and we just try to design

          6  systems or use methods that limit the amount of

          7  daily maintenance or on- going maintenance the park

          8  or the facility will require. But, we cannot use the

          9  capital dollars that are allocated for the

         10  renovation of a park to maintain it in the long-

         11  term.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I understand

         13  that but do you currently have a system in place in

         14  the Parks Department in terms of the expense and

         15  having to do with maintenance itself.

         16                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         17  I'm sorry.  I don't understand.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Meaning, with

         19  the capital we refurbish the park each year, like

         20  with the home or anything.  Was that not the answer

         21  you wanted?

         22                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         23  I'm sorry.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I'm just talking

         25  about the what I would call day- to- day, week- to-
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          2  week, month- to- month maintenance of the park.

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          4  Well, before a park is reconstructed, it's being

          5  maintained by the Parks Department and, in fact,

          6  after it's completed a capital renovation it is much

          7  easier to maintain because all of the facilities are

          8  new and in good condition.  There is no special fund

          9  allocated for a new park.  It is maintained within

         10  the existing resources of the borough or the agency.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay.  So then

         12  maybe I need to re- phrase my question.  Do we think

         13  that we could do more, and I say we because it's a

         14  team, in terms of maintenance.  I'll give you an

         15  example.  My favorite park that I always refer to

         16  Mullaly.  High volume, it was recently under when my

         17  father was a Council Member, a lot of money was

         18  poured into it and now it seems like we need to

         19  start putting capital money for a lot of the

         20  projects that were done under my dad's tenure

         21  because I don't know if we spent as much maintaining

         22  those repairs and those upgrades as we needed to.

         23  So, as we look park- by- park or borough- by-

         24  borough, do we have specifics in terms of dollar

         25  amount or time or person just dealing with the
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          2  maintenance; the day- to- day upkeep.  For example,

          3  the basketball rims at Mullaly no longer have nets,

          4  they're bent and it's a high volume park, those

          5  types of things.

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          7  Those types of issues are addressed on a regular

          8  basis by the maintenance staff who are assigned to

          9  that district.  For example, there are Parks

         10  supervisors in every district who are responsible

         11  for inspecting the conditions of parks and

         12  playgrounds, at least, on a weekly basis if not more

         13  frequently.  It is a written inspection.  They look

         14  at all of those elements that you mentioned.  For

         15  example, a basketball rim.  To be honest with you,

         16  keeping the nets on the rims in New York City is,

         17  sort, of a thankless task.  But a bent rim should be

         18  noted and should be replaced in the normal course of

         19  business.  Similarly, they look at all the play

         20  equipment, they look at the structural integrity to

         21  make sure there are no defects that could injure a

         22  child.  They look at the safety service, they look

         23  at the fences and the benches.  Every element in

         24  that park or playground gets inspected on a regular

         25  basis.  If there is work needed to repair a problem
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          2  condition or a defect, that's usually taken care of

          3  at the local level.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  What do you

          5  think we could do more in terms of assisting with

          6  that process.  I know that in conversations I've

          7  heard, and I'll speak obviously specifically about

          8  the Bronx, that it would be helpful if the Bronx, as

          9  a delegation did more capital projects for parks and

         10  things like that.  But, what could we do, maybe

         11  budget- wise, to insure or assist that process.

         12                 I don't think, and it's not the first

         13  time I've said this and this isn't against you but,

         14  perception is a person's reality and being from the

         15  Bronx, my parks don't look like the parks in

         16  Manhattan.  It is perceived that, you know I know I

         17  don't have nets on basketball rims in the Bronx.  As

         18  I get in more affluent areas near Manhattan, on the

         19  waterfront, they have nets. So, what could we do to,

         20  #1: Increase the maintenance and #2: Make sure, no I

         21  don't want to say make sure cause it may sound like

         22  we're not- or assist in spreading the wealth in

         23  terms of parks throughout all the boroughs and not

         24  just affluent areas looking more well to do than

         25  others.
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          2                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          3  Well, I do think that we as an organization do

          4  spread our resources fairly among the five boroughs

          5  and that no borough is favored or disfavored in

          6  terms of the amount of resources we assign for

          7  maintenance on a regular basis.

          8                 Some of the things that you may

          9  observe may have to do with just the capital cycle.

         10  When things get renovated, they certainly look

         11  better than they did before and they look better in

         12  comparison to other facilities around the City.

         13  Those things tend to be cyclical.  For example,

         14  there was a tremendous amount of investment in Bronx

         15  parks and over the next few years we are going to

         16  see a lot of great looking parks in the Bronx where

         17  some of the other boroughs may feel a little

         18  envious.

         19                 For example, I know it's not in your

         20  district, but Joyce Kilmer Park has just completed a

         21  series of projects that have really made it into a

         22  spectacular park and I think a real asset to the

         23  community.

         24                 In terms of maintenance, I think we

         25  do a good job. Our own inspection standards show
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          2  pretty consistent results around the City.  There

          3  are some districts in particular boroughs that can

          4  improve.  But, of course, the Council is a partner

          5  in the budget and if the Council thinks that Parks

          6  deserves more maintenance funds, well we certainly

          7  won't stand in the way.

          8                 The other thing that could help us,

          9  of course, is by encouraging more groups to become

         10  involved in their parks.  A lot of maintenance can

         11  be preventative.  If there is a group who is out

         12  there looking out for the park or just establishing

         13  a presence in the park, it can prevent a lot of

         14  problems from happening.  A lot of the maintenance

         15  that we do on a daily basis from being necessary.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I agree.  We're

         17  hoping to get the concession bill passed so that you

         18  get a percentage of what you make.

         19                 When you get private donations or a

         20  private group willing to work with a park, is it

         21  just maybe for like capital to do a big item or is

         22  it usually just- do you have expense money if

         23  someone wants to maintain the park or something like

         24  that.

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

                                                            28

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  There are examples where people have donated money

          3  for maintenance.  More typically, other than the

          4  capital, individuals or corporations tend to fund

          5  programming.  A program in particular, kids

          6  programming is specially appealing.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

          8  Council Member Gerson?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you

         10  very much Madam Chair.

         11                 It's good to see you.

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         13  Likewise.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I ditto the

         15  remarks by my Chair of appreciation for the fun in

         16  the snow time this past blizzard weekend.  As they

         17  say, let it snow let it snow.

         18                 Bear with me one moment.

         19                 In your testimony, you refer to park

         20  lands not under the control of the Department of

         21  Parks and you specifically mentioned DOT as one

         22  agency that controls park land.  That was second

         23  page, second bullet point, Park manages almost

         24  29,000 acres of park land, et cetera.  I want to

         25  cite this for the record as well. And approximately
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          2  6,000 acres are maintained by other entities and

          3  then you conclude with DOT.  Does the maintenance of

          4  that park land come out of the Parks' Department

          5  budget or the DOT budget in this case?

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          7  It comes out of the Department of Transportation's

          8  budget.  Most of this is acreage that abuts highways

          9  and parkway around the City.  When it was originally

         10  built, much of it during the Great Depression under

         11  Robert Moses, it was all considered one agency or

         12  one happy family.  It is mapped park land but in

         13  1977, during the fiscal crisis, the City assigned

         14  maintenance responsibility, not control or

         15  ownership, to the Department of Transportation and

         16  at that time a certain amount of resources was

         17  transferred from the Parks' budget to the Department

         18  of Transportation's budget.  However, since that

         19  time no Parks' resources have been assigned or

         20  transferred to DOT for maintaining those properties.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  But ownership

         22  still lies within Parks if it is mapped park land.

         23                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         24  Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Would it not
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          2  then make sense, under current realities, to

          3  transfer managerial maintenance responsibilities,

          4  along with the share of the budget currently given

          5  to DOT for the maintenance of that ground, back to

          6  the Department of Parks?  You guys are the experts

          7  in maintaining green spaces, trees, gardens, some of

          8  which I know are in this hybrid situation.  Wouldn't

          9  it be more cost effective?  I know you do some

         10  traffic medians, for instance.  Wouldn't it be more

         11  cost effective for you to do it all if it's mapped

         12  park land?

         13                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         14  We maintain traffic medians through the Green Street

         15  Programs but those are, sort of, discreet properties

         16  in residential streets for the most part.  The

         17  parkways- one of the reasons why they were

         18  transferred to DOT is to assign responsibility to

         19  one agency for all of the aspects of maintenance.

         20  That is the roadway, the guard rails, the cleaning

         21  and the landscape maintenance.  As far as I can tell

         22  the DOT does a decent job with those

         23  responsibilities and the intent, that is to fix

         24  responsibility on one agency, I think, is a sound

         25  management approach.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Then why keep

          3  the ownership with Parks.  Why this dichotomy

          4  between ownership and managerial responsibility?  It

          5  just sounds like a set- up for problems.

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          7  Well, I think it results in fewer problems in having

          8  several agencies responsible for the same

          9  properties.  But the underlying reason why we have

         10  not transferred is because park land requires

         11  alienation legislation in order to move out of our

         12  portfolio into some other agencies and there is a

         13  real desire by the Administration to maintain that

         14  property as green space.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  So let me ask

         16  you the other way around then.  If we have an area

         17  of green space that is not serving any other

         18  functional purpose other than providing green space

         19  and the amenities which go with that, should that

         20  then following an extension of the logic of what

         21  you've just said, should that then be placed under

         22  ownership of the Department of Parks, irrespective

         23  of who manages it.  As a general rule.

         24                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         25  I'd say a qualified yes.  We are always looking for
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          2  property to add to our portfolio and to preserve, in

          3  fact.  So, depending on the circumstances, I would

          4  say yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Could you

          6  imagine any circumstances where it should not be

          7  under park ownership?  Again, if it's not serving

          8  another functional purpose such as, you know,

          9  traffic.

         10                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         11  For example, depending on where the property might

         12  be located.  If it is in an area that is slated for

         13  either commercial or industrial development and it

         14  might be better suited to that purpose, in the long-

         15  run maybe it might not make sense to turn it into

         16  park land.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  But that

         18  would be the only reason in general.

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         20  Perhaps.  Yes.  Or if another City agency had a

         21  legitimate need for that particular property.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Well that

         23  would be a legitimate functional need.  But, I'm

         24  saying, there is no other function.

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:
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          2  Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay.  We'll

          4  follow- up on that.  I have a few pieces of property

          5  in mind.

          6

          7                 I want to then also follow- up on the

          8  incisive point by my Chair about maintenance and the

          9  Parks budget.  Even within the Borough of Manhattan

         10  we see discrepancies between those parks that are

         11  maybe kind of off the beaten track in terms of- not

         12  in terms of youth of local communities- but in terms

         13  of the broad eye of the public at large.  There are

         14  certain parks that are attractions and certain parks

         15  that serve communities and I have observed a

         16  discrepancy in maintenance within a way in which I

         17  think is unfair to communities.

         18                 So, let me ask you this.  Is there

         19  any kind of- and that's within the context of

         20  recognizing, I must state for the record, your

         21  overall outstanding job with the limited resources-

         22  but in order to push you to do even better or to

         23  push all of us to do even better.  Is there any kind

         24  of a formula that links maintenance conditions with

         25  resource allocation?  In order words, your
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          2  inspectors go into parks and have a check list and

          3  say: We're having this maintenance problem, this

          4  maintenance problem, this maintenance problem and

          5  therefore that requires an increase of resources

          6  over a period of time.  Does that exist?  Should

          7  that exist?  Does that make sense?

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          9  Yes it does make sense.  We do use that exercise to

         10  distribute resources throughout the boroughs. It's

         11  not the inspectors who are, of course, making those

         12  decisions. They record what they see.  We analyze

         13  those results on a regular basis.  In fact, every

         14  other week, all of the borough commissioners meet at

         15  the arsenal, we review the prior two weeks'

         16  inspections and those are approximately 200

         17  inspections that have taken place in that period.

         18  We look at the results from the start of the Fiscal

         19  Year to date.  We compare it to prior fiscal years.

         20  We look at the individual features that are either

         21  performing well or performing poorly.  The borough

         22  commissioners can and do adjust resources among

         23  districts to address those particular problems.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  And also

         25  among the boroughs are resources adjusted to meet
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          2  maintenance needs?

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          4  Yes.  We don't move staff per se because there are,

          5  sort of, contractual requirements in terms of

          6  assignments.  But, when we develop solutions to

          7  problems, we base how we direct the resources on

          8  where the problems are.

          9                 For example, when we notice a problem

         10  with safety surface.  Obviously, when we hire

         11  contractors to help us prepare those safety

         12  surfaces, the resources went to the parks and to the

         13  boroughs or to the districts that were experiencing

         14  the most problems.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Allan, can I

         16  just stop you for a minute.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Sure.  Yeah.

         18  I understand.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay.  I'm going

         20  to stop you just to let Council Member Katz jump in

         21  and ask a questions before she has to go.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I am always

         23  more than happy to defer to Council Member Katz.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Thank you.  I
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          2  appreciate it Madam Chair, Council Member Gerson.

          3                 Hi.  Good to see you again.  It's

          4  interesting that we're hearing testimony on this

          5  today.  Two years ago, during the budget crisis and

          6  I can't remember exactly which Council Member it was

          7  but, someone came up to me and said "You know if

          8  we're having a discussion about trimming trees, we

          9  don't have a budget crisis." The problem really is

         10  that the understanding by some of the City Members

         11  who don't have a lot of trees and stuff in their

         12  district, it really does affect everyone's quality

         13  of life in my community in Forest Hills and Kew

         14  Gardens, specially.

         15                 So I was interested in two things.

         16  A.  You said that we could have volunteers do

         17  trimming of trees which, quite honestly, I didn't

         18  know.  The question I have, though, is you also then

         19  said that we have to look at the health of the

         20  trees.  So my question is, let's just say that I did

         21  through my own Expense Budget, cause I have Member

         22  item money, or I could get a volunteer to come in

         23  and do tree trimming.  Does that now mean that I

         24  have to wait for the Parks Department to come in,

         25  tell me that it's okay, then have the tree trimmed
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          2  by these folks?  Or, how does that really work or is

          3  it just one more step in the process that I might as

          4  well just have the Parks Department do it.

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          6  Ah, no.  If there were either private resources or

          7  public resources allocated to a specific district or

          8  area or volunteer resources, we would help whoever

          9  was providing them get that work done.  As I said,

         10  we do have to make sure whoever is doing the work is

         11  qualified; they perform the work up to current

         12  arbor's standards and that the long- term health of

         13  the tree is insured by whatever work is done.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  So, the answer

         15  to the questions is not only do they have to be

         16  basically accredited by the Parks Department, which

         17  makes sense, but the Parks Department then has to

         18  come in to say whether or not that tree can be

         19  trimmed. It's not an argument, it's simply.  I'm not

         20  saying that you're wrong, I just want to know.

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         22  We would want to make sure that the tree is pruned

         23  properly.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  So it really is

         25  just worth just waiting for Parks to do it.
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          2  Because, by the time Parks comes in, looks at it,

          3  tells me they can trim it, they might as well just

          4  trim it while they're there.

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          6  It would be an inspector who goes out to look at the

          7  tree and evaluate what kind of work needs to be

          8  done, not a work crew.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  But,

         10  ostensibly, we're already paying and the City's

         11  already paying for tree- trimming.  So, if I sent an

         12  inspector out there, the Parks Department sends an

         13  inspector out there, how long is the wait once the

         14  inspector says yeah it should be trimmed, it's a

         15  danger to this house or it's a danger to the cars

         16  cause it might fall.

         17                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         18  If it is a dangerous situation, it would probably be

         19  addressed within 30 days.  If it is not and,

         20  unfortunately, most of the request that are received

         21  for pruning services don't reach that level, we

         22  would wait for the Block Pruning Program to address

         23  the condition.

         24

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  And the Block
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          2  Pruning Program usually takes how long?

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          4  It is once every ten years is our standard but right

          5  now we think we're on about an eight- year cycle.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  So it's worth

          7  getting my own folks, sometimes.

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          9  Sometimes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  One other

         11  question, just to try to clarify what Chair Foster

         12  was talking about and what Councilman Gerson was

         13  talking about.  What's the percentage of capital

         14  funding for the Parks Department that comes from the

         15  Council vis- a- vis the whole overall Parks

         16  Department Capital Funding.  We all give money

         17  percentage- wise every year to the Parks.  I'm

         18  curious as to A: What the overall capital budget is

         19  per year; what the percentage is the Council Members

         20  give and how the Parks Department determines, if

         21  they don't get money from the Council, what parks

         22  will be done on their own.

         23                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         24  I'm afraid I don't have that information with me

         25  today and I can certainly provide it for you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Good.

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          4  In general, the way the capital budget has worked

          5  for the Parks Department, in any event, is that

          6  there are three sources of capital funding.  There

          7  is the Mayor, of course.  There is the Borough

          8  Presidents, who have I guess a statutory amount of

          9  money from the capital program that is allocated to

         10  Borough Presidents, and the Council which is I think

         11  done on an agreement between the Mayor and the

         12  Council Speaker.

         13                 The Mayor's budget tends to fund

         14  large scale capital improvements, infrastructure

         15  projects that could not be addressed by local

         16  resources, either the Borough President or the

         17  Council Member.  So, when you have an enormous

         18  capital undertaking such as the repair of the East

         19  River Esplanade, which is costing tens of millions

         20  of dollars, it's primarily Mayoral money that is

         21  used for that purpose.  For local parks and

         22  playgrounds which tend to cost between $750 and $2

         23  million, they are largely funded by the Borough

         24  President or the Council Members.  But I can get you

         25  the exact amounts and percentages in each category.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Madam Chair if

          3  I can request that that information be given to you.

          4    What I'm thinking of is, I'm curious as to the

          5  overall capital budget, how much the percentage

          6  Council Members give for that.  The borough

          7  allocation of the Mayor's money for capital, as

          8  opposed to what we pay.  And I'd also be curious on

          9  the same information on expense.  I have a feeling,

         10  if I'm not mistaken, that the Mayor puts in a lot

         11  more money and expense than the Council does which

         12  would make sense. I'm just curious as to the

         13  distribution of funds, borough by borough on that.

         14                 Chair Foster, thank you very much.  I

         15  appreciate- we have a great relationship in Parks in

         16  my office.  We use them almost on a daily basis.

         17  They usually are terrific in my borough and I want

         18  to thank them for coming in and giving information

         19  that we just can't get sometimes not because we've

         20  asked and not gotten it but because your hearing

         21  brought it to the attention of so many of us.  So, I

         22  thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         24  Before I go back to Council Member Gerson, let me

         25  for my own edification, the volunteer and I don't
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          2  know if I have the right term, but the volunteer

          3  tree trimming people that go through the training,

          4  is the training from the Parks Department or a

          5  separate organization?

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          7  The training is provided by a non profit

          8  organization called Trees New York though we work

          9  closely with them and some of our employees are

         10  instructors for Trees New York.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: So, if the same

         12  example Council Member Katz, if she called someone

         13  from Trees New York to come prune a tree in her

         14  district, would that still need to go through the

         15  Parks Department first?

         16                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         17  The type of pruning done by the volunteers does not

         18  need a permit and does not need prior approval by

         19  the Parks Department.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  That's the kind

         21  from on the ground with a --

         22                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         23  It's ground pruning for the most part and it's

         24  usually for younger trees.  The type of pruning

         25  requests that usually generate all of the complaints
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          2  are usually more substantial than that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay.  Thank

          4  you.  Council Member Gerson?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you

          6  very much Madam Chair.  Just to wrap up the point I

          7  had raised and then move on to one last point.  Did

          8  I understand you correctly to say in response to

          9  Council Member Katz's question about the capital

         10  budget that the division between the Mayor's side

         11  and our side, that if a project is more than $2

         12  million you would expect or a significant part to

         13  come from the Mayor's side and if it's less than $2

         14  million elsewhere?  Is that the general rule of

         15  thumb?

         16                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         17  In general terms yes.  But we also would look to put

         18  together partnerships among Council Members, Borough

         19  Presidents, and in some cases the Mayor-

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Sure.

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         22   -- To fund, you know, larger projects that exceed

         23  the $2 million.  And the $2 million is just sort of

         24  a somewhat arbitrary figure.  That is generally what

         25  it takes to renovate a small park or a playground.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  But if it's

          3  significantly more than $2 million you would expect

          4  some Mayoral involvement.

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          6  Usually it would have to be, yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Even if

          8  that's recreating an old broken-down recreation

          9  center.  We'll discuss that.

         10                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         11  What could you be talking about?

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I don't know.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Maybe we

         14  couldn't get through the hearing without it.  I

         15  gotta give it to you, Alan.  You're good.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  One of these

         17  days we'll celebrate.  We'll all be invited to its

         18  reopening.  Just one last area I want to inquire and

         19  that is the use of private funds as part of all of

         20  this and kind of a check and balance.  We all know

         21  that in certain parks, for major capital

         22  improvements we have looked to the private sector.

         23                 Now, what is the review process, if

         24  you will, involving the Council, involving your

         25  agency, for projects funded by private funds?
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          2                 I mean, when you have to come to us

          3  for money or even when you take money from the

          4  Mayor's side, it's all part of a budget.  We all

          5  review it and we come to a meeting of the minds as

          6  to how funds are allocated and therein, we on the

          7  Council side on behalf of our communities have

          8  input.  When you fund a project in its entirety or

          9  to a very large extent from private sources outside

         10  of the budget process, what role do we as a Council

         11  have in kind of reviewing how that money is spent?

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         13  We generally follow the same procedure as we do with

         14  public money.  That is, we present the project to

         15  the community board, to the elected officials, if

         16  it's a project that requires the Art Commission

         17  approval, it goes through the Art Commission.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Of course.

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         20  And, in fact, there have been projects where the

         21  donor withdrew because he was unhappy with the

         22  outcome of the review process.  Any capital project

         23  in a City park, regardless of the funding source, is

         24  subject to the normal process.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay, but the
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          2  normal process aside from the Arts Commission review

          3  if that's involved, or Landmarks Commission review

          4  if you're involved with a landmarked district, I

          5  understand it goes through the community board and

          6  the community board registers its opinion and that

          7  is strictly advisory.  But, in the normal process,

          8  we have the input through the budget process.  We

          9  can, when we have our budget hearings, ask you what

         10  you're spending the capital money on; what you

         11  propose to do and we register our input.  If it's

         12  something that we don't like, we have an opportunity

         13  therein to sit down and have a meeting with you and

         14  come to a meeting of the minds.  Are saying that you

         15  would follow that process even if you weren't

         16  looking to the Council for the money; that you would

         17  want to have a meeting of minds with us; that you

         18  would not try to circumvent City Council input even

         19  if you didn't have to come with us for money because

         20  you got the money from private sector benefactors.

         21  Is that your policy?

         22                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         23  Well, we certainly would want the local elected

         24  officials to support the project but, clearly if

         25  you're providing the funding, you have more say in

                                                            47

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  the final product.  I don't think that if we thought

          3  it was a desirable project that benefited the park

          4  or the public, I don't think we would stop it from

          5  occurring because an elected official thought that

          6  there was something more worthy in another part of

          7  the park or the community.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I'll just

          9  say, Madam Chair, and I can conclude on this note

         10  that that is an issue I think requires probably just

         11  what the Commissioner said.  I think he's right.

         12  Where we provide the money we have considerable more

         13  input and more say.  But, we're talking about public

         14  space and we're talking about public space that

         15  belongs to the public and that it's very important

         16  to each of our communities and to the City community

         17  at large.  I would argue that we need to have a say

         18  if we're talking about a significant overhaul or the

         19  creation of a new park on behalf of our communities

         20  over this public space even if the money is coming

         21  from the Tish James Foundation with all of the

         22  billions there or what have you.  I think that point

         23  of the process for- and it may only apply to a few

         24  select parks but I would suggest that these are

         25  important.  The principal is important as well as
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          2  the parks and that's something that I'd like to

          3  continue the conversation with all of us together.

          4  I don't think it should be adversarial.  I think we

          5  should all be working together to develop

          6  opportunities for other sources of funding which at

          7  the same time preserve, however, the public

          8  character of that for which we're trying to fund.

          9                 On that note, I'll look forward to

         10  the grand opening of that recreation center we

         11  talked about earlier.  I thank you all very much.

         12                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         13  You're welcome.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  They might be

         15  wheeling us in a wheelchairs.

         16                 We've been joined by Council Member

         17  Joe Addabbo from Queens.  Council Member Tish James

         18  has questions.  In case I have to step out to vote

         19  next door, obviously, we're coming to the time for

         20  preliminary budget and we will get into this more.

         21  I want to thank you in advance in case I'm next door

         22  because Council Member James will Chair the meeting

         23  in my absence.  So, Council Member James.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Thank you,

         25  Madam Chair.
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          2                 First, at the outset let me just

          3  thank you for all that you have done in my district.

          4    The parks that we've worked on in the two years

          5  that I've been in office include Fort Green Park,

          6  Tillary Park, McLoughlin Park, Underhill Park,

          7  Underhill Playground, Underwood Playground, Prospect

          8  Park obviously which is shares by a number of my

          9  colleagues as well.  Pratt Playground and we look

         10  forward as we go forward to fund, in this year's

         11  budget, Mt. Prospect Park, Commodore Barry Park and

         12  Ronald McNair (phonetic).  Thank you.  I think by

         13  the time my tenure is over we would have renovated

         14  every single park in my district and I just want to

         15  say thank you publicly and, of course, in the

         16  absence of the Brooklyn Commissioner, I am truly

         17  humbled by it.  Because, as you know, I have a

         18  number of arborists, environmentalists, green people

         19  and just plain tree huggers in my district and they,

         20  on behalf of all of them, just want to thank you.

         21                 With that said, let me just talk a

         22  little bit about this whole notion of volunteer tree

         23  pruner.  A number of people have stepped forward and

         24  have been willing to offer their services. Is there

         25  a class that they have to attend within the Parks
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          2  Department to get accredited?

          3                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          4  It's not offered by the Parks Department, it's

          5  offered by an organization called Trees New York. It

          6  is called the Citizen's Pruner Program.  It is

          7  offered, typically, at the Brooklyn Botanic Garden

          8  in the spring and in the fall.  They do offer a

          9  class in our building, the Arsenal, up in Central

         10  Park.  But there are training locations, I think, in

         11  every borough.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  How does the

         13  budget treat pruning services, tree planting as well

         14  as PEP officers in this year's budget?

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         16  Tree pruning is part of the Expense Budget and it is

         17  subject to renewal every year as part of the budget

         18  process that Chairwoman Foster alluded to earlier.

         19  Do we have the tree pruning number handy?  While we

         20  search for that number.  Tree planting, however, is

         21  part of the capital budget.  It is considered a

         22  long- term improvement to the City's infrastructure.

         23  So, the total tree pruning budget, if I may, slip

         24  back to that for a minute, this year was $1.8

         25  million.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  And in terms

          3  of each borough, what's the breakdown?

          4                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          5  The breakdown is based on the percentage of street

          6  trees in each borough.  So, Queens which has 47% of

          7  the street trees gets 47% of the money which amounts

          8  to about $850,000.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  In very

         10  parochial Brooklyn?

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         12  Brooklyn is close to 24% of the street tree

         13  population.  The funding is approximately $450,000.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Thank you.

         15  And PEP officers?

         16                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         17  PEP officers are part of the Expense Budget, thanks

         18  to the Council and advocates.  Last year we had an

         19  additional 60 PEP officers join our ranks.  There

         20  are ten additional officers in ever borough and

         21  there's a ten person team that responds to

         22  situations or conditions or activities city- wide as

         23  needed.  Currently, we have 154 PEP officers around

         24  the City that is exclusive of our contracts with

         25  Battery Park City and Hudson River Park.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  And how many

          3  in total do we have in the Borough of Brooklyn.

          4                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          5  In the Borough of Brooklyn we have 30 total.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  30.  Do you

          7  know where they are placed?

          8                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          9  I don't know where they are placed at the moment.  I

         10  think we have at least three commands, as we call

         11  them, one in the south end of the borough, one in

         12  Prospect Park and one in the north end.  I don't

         13  know if that has changed recently. We can certainly

         14  let you know if there has been any changes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  And the same

         16  question for urban rangers.  How were they treated

         17  in the budget and the breakdown distribution in

         18  terms of borough.

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         20  I don't know if I have the ranger information here

         21  with me.  However, the rangers tend to be assigned

         22  to nature centers.  We're reopening the visitor

         23  center in Fort Green Park, as a quasi- visitor

         24  nature center, but most rangers are assigned to the

         25  nature centers as opposed to being on general
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          2  patrol.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Thank you

          4  again.  Fort Green Park, as you know, is a historic

          5  park.  It houses the Marvis (phonetic) Monument

          6  where it's a monument in salute to the heroes of the

          7  Revolutionary War.  Thank you for all your efforts

          8  there in addition to the lighthouse which lights the

          9  entire Borough of Brooklyn, or will one day.

         10                 You talked a little about the fact

         11  that the Mayor only funds major capital projects in

         12  the City of New York.  Do you have a list of those

         13  major capital projects that are funded in this

         14  year's budget.

         15                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         16  I don't have that with me.  If I said only, it's not

         17  what I mean.  In general, the Mayor tends to fund

         18  the larger projects that are beyond the scope of the

         19  local elected officials.  But we can provide you

         20  with a list of those.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  And my last

         22  question is a concern that I have expressed to you

         23  privately, as well as some of my constituents

         24  concerning the Fort Green Park Conservancy.  It is

         25  my understanding that the Central Park Conservancy
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          2  receives about $3 million in the City's budget.  The

          3  question is:  Why can't Fort Green Park Conservancy,

          4  and any other conservancies that exists throughout

          5  the City of New York, be similarly treated.

          6                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          7  The Central Park Conservancy has a formal management

          8  agreement with the City to operate Central Park on a

          9  day- to- day basis.  It requires them to raise

         10  significant amount of money well in advance of what

         11  the City contributes.  The exact amount I don't

         12  recall off the top of my head but I think it is in

         13  the range of $15 million a year that they have to

         14  raise privately for the maintenance and operation of

         15  the park.  If anyone else is willing to take a

         16  similar deal, we'd be happy to talk to them.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  So, if your

         18  position is that if another conservancy seeks to

         19  raise x amount of money, then they would be

         20  similarly treated?

         21                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         22  I can't say that in every case but we would

         23  certainly consider arrangements of that nature.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Now, it seems

         25  to me that there is a shift now, I guess given
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          2  limited resources, we're now looking towards parks

          3  that are self- sustaining.  The case in point is the

          4  Brooklyn Bridge Park.  Are we moving in that

          5  direction, where only major parks in the future will

          6  have to be self sustaining?

          7                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          8  I don't know if that is a long- term trend.

          9  Brooklyn Bridge Park, that premise of being self

         10  sustaining, was actually part of the founding

         11  principle.  Back in the mid 90s, I think, 1990s.

         12  The same thing holds true for Hudson River Park.  I

         13  think that may have been either the trend or the

         14  strategy at the time.  I don't know if that is the

         15  best way to treat the entire system in the long

         16  term.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Thank you very

         18  much.  Our Chair has returned.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         20  They're not ready to vote, so that was a waste of

         21  time.  But eventually I'm going to have to leave

         22  again.  I came in on the end of the self- sustaining

         23  and, that to me when I hear that rings

         24  privatization.  So I'm very happy to hear that that

         25  may not be where the Parks Department wants to go
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          2  because we will definitely see a division between

          3  the haves and the have-nots.  There is no way, again

          4  going back to Mallaly, I can have what is called a

          5  self- sustaining park.  I don't have the people in

          6  the area that can do that.  It's still public park

          7  land that we are then privatizing by calling it

          8  self- sustaining.  But that's another topic for

          9  another time so I'll get off my soapbox now.

         10                 Council Member Addabbo, I don't know

         11  if you have questions or are you good.  Sure.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you

         13  Madam Chair. Commissioner Kavanagh, thank you and

         14  the entire Parks team was here today for their time

         15  and testimony.  Again, I apologize for being late

         16  and maybe this was touched upon earlier but, as we

         17  talk about the upcoming budget season and the

         18  capital projects.  Talk about Parks Department

         19  staffing, those who handle the progress of the

         20  capital projects, do you feel that currently you

         21  have an appropriate amount or sufficient amount of

         22  staffing to push those projects through or have you

         23  seen a decrease in staffing that has caused a lag in

         24  capital projects progressing.

         25                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:
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          2  Are you referring to the technical staff who designs

          3  and manages the project?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Exactly.

          5  Throughout the whole process of the capital project

          6  but within Parks Department.

          7                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          8  We are somewhat sort of blessed with a very robust

          9  capital budget and the capital program for Parks.

         10  Sometimes it has been difficult for us to keep up in

         11  terms of staffing with the designers, with the

         12  construction personnel, with the support teams that

         13  you need to manage those appropriations effectively.

         14    We are constantly recruiting and hiring people for

         15  those types of positions but I think the thing that

         16  will help us the most- we recently concluded a

         17  procurement for professional services in landscape

         18  architecture, architecture, project management and

         19  construction project management which we can draw

         20  upon to help us expedite those kind of projects.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  In saying

         22  that- and I guess as a groundwork to the future

         23  budgeting hearings that we may have with the Parks

         24  Department.  Taking that into consideration and all

         25  the other staffing levels of other departments
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          2  within the Department of Parks, if you were to tell

          3  us Council Members where your priorities would be

          4  for funding, last year we worked together like I

          5  mentioned earlier, on the Park Enforcement Officers.

          6    We worked together on lifeguards and so forth  If

          7  you were to say the Parks Department needed certain

          8  amount of money to increase staffing levels

          9  somewhere in the Parks Department would you say

         10  anything in particular jumps out at you.

         11                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         12  At this moment no.  We're sort of early in the

         13  budget process and it's a little hard to say exactly

         14  where things could be most effectively applied or

         15  where resources can most effectively be applied.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Okay.  I'm

         17  sure we'll talk about it in future days.  Thank you

         18  very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Oh no.  Should I

         20  trust him? Council Member Gerson.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Lifeguards

         22  and swimming instructors with the goal of every

         23  child in the City being able to learn how to swim.

         24  Where do we stand?  Are we increasing numbers? Where

         25  to we stand in relationship to expense fund and
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          2  staffing; in relationship to opportunities allowed

          3  by the availability of pools and spaces for

          4  swimming.

          5                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          6  We've made some progress in that regard.  Obviously,

          7  we're not in a position where we can teach every kid

          8  in New York City how to swim but, my colleague,

          9  Deputy Commissioner Kevin Jeffrey, we do have a

         10  program in which elementary school kids, I think

         11  they're primarily fourth graders, are coming to

         12  pools and we're going in some cases to their pools

         13  and teaching them basic water-

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I'm sorry.

         15  To their pools in the schools you mean?

         16                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

         17  Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Great.

         19                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH: -

         20  teaching them basic water safety skills.  Swimming

         21  to some extent but how to be safe in the water is

         22  our primary goal.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I would think

         24  he had urged that in response to one of the

         25  questions that Council Member Addabbo raises.  One
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          2  area where we might want to work together to try and

          3  really shore up to achieve that goal of swimming

          4  instruction availability throughout our City.

          5  That's something to work on for the upcoming fiscal

          6  year and certainly we'd all I'm sure love to work

          7  with you on that.  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

          8    No three- minute hand.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.

         10  Thank you very much and just to follow- up with what

         11  Council Member Gerson said, I think the swimming

         12  issue is much larger than just the Parks Department

         13  and teaching our kids how to swim.  It has to be

         14  with the Department of Education.  It's gotta be a

         15  thrust, not just from the Parks Department.  But

         16  thank you and please extend the Commissioner how

         17  happy I was to read that he and other volunteers

         18  went down to New Orleans.  I think we will

         19  definitely, as not only a country but a city, be

         20  judged by what we do for people in need.  It was

         21  just encouraging to see the group of volunteers that

         22  went down and helped a city that's struggling and

         23  really needs our assistance. Thank you as always and

         24  I'm sure we'll see you soon when we start the budget

         25  dance.
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          2                 FIRST DEPUTY COMMISSIONER KAVANAGH:

          3  Yes, I think it begins March 16th.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Yup.  Thank you.

          5                 Our next panel is New Yorkers for

          6  Parks.  Christian Di -- why can't I do that,

          7  Christian?  No.  I'm going to get it right.

          8  Christian Di-- if I don't look at it I'm fine.

          9  Christian Di Palermo.  Did I do it?

         10                 MR. DI PALERMO:  You're getting

         11  there.  Di Palermo.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Di Palermo.

         13  Maybe I need to write it phonetically for my- say it

         14  again.

         15                 MR. DI PALERMO:  Christian Di

         16  Palermo.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Christian, from

         18  New York.

         19                 MR. DI PALERMO:  There should be no

         20  concern because at a recent bill signing a Council

         21  Member from Queens, an Italian Council Member

         22  mispronounced the name too.  So, don't feel bad.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Who could it be?

         24                 MR. DI PALERMO:  Who could it be.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And we're joined
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          2  by- you'll introduce everyone?

          3                 MR. DI PALERMO:  You could do it.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Allison.  I

          5  knew- I can get Farina.  And I forgot.

          6                 MS. LOUT:  Maura Lout (phonetic).

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Maura Lout.

          8  Welcome.  I may have to vote but I'll be back.  So,

          9  thank you and you can jump right in.

         10                 MR. DI PALERMO:  Yes, we do have a

         11  Powerpoint but I'd first like to begin by thanking

         12  Speaker Quinn for continuing the Parks Committee.

         13  Some of us remember when the Parks was lost in

         14  inter- governmental and we can't even remember the

         15  whole title. So, highlighting Parks by giving it

         16  it's own committee, she should be commended.  We are

         17  of course ecstatic that Chairwoman Foster decided to

         18  come back and join us.  We appreciate that.  All the

         19  Park supporters and everybody on the Committee.

         20                 Thank you very much for your

         21  dedication to Parks and for this opportunity to

         22  present primarily to research projects of ours.  The

         23  Report Card on Parks and our Mini Report Card that

         24  we did this past summer and you'll hear more details

         25  about that.
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          2                 It's about tracking maintenance

          3  funding.  There is no publicly accessible way to

          4  determine the distribution of Park maintenance funds

          5  on a park- by- park; community board by community

          6  board; or borough by borough basis.  Again publicly

          7  accessible. You've already been asking the

          8  questions.  You're putting in the capital, how much

          9  maintenance is going to that park.  We still don't

         10  have the answers.  It's not publicly accessible.  We

         11  need to work towards that.  It's better

         12  accountability.  It leads to more efficient

         13  services.

         14                 There's no reason to believe that the

         15  limited amount of public funding is being

         16  inequitably distributed.  The city needs innovative

         17  funding strategies that support every park,

         18  reinforcing rather than lessening the public

         19  commitment.  If you're going to get private dollars,

         20  we shouldn't be cutting on the other end. They

         21  should be adding services, not reducing them.

         22                 New Yorkers for Parks, as I said,

         23  offers for consideration today three years of

         24  comprehensive data on the conditions of our

         25  neighborhood parks.  I'm now going to turn it over
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          2  to Maura Lout, our Director of Research at New

          3  Yorkers for Parks.

          4                 MS. LOUT:  Thank you Madam Chairwoman

          5  and Members of the Council.  Certainly any

          6  discussion about maintenance funding is critically

          7  tied to how that impacts maintenance conditions.

          8  Both New Yorkers for Parks and the Parks Department

          9  collect comprehensive performance data in all five

         10  boroughs.  Understanding how that performance

         11  information is related to funding is certainly

         12  critical to understanding how to effectively

         13  determine and also distribute park funding.

         14                 To that end I'll talk a bit about, as

         15  Christian mentioned, our two major park performance

         16  project.  The first is the Report Card on Parks.

         17  I'm sure, as you know at this point, the Report Card

         18  focuses on park designated properties not

         19  playgrounds, not strips, not malls, that are between

         20  one and twenty acres. These parks are large enough

         21  to host a variety of different features and uses but

         22  small enough to be community specific assets. Our

         23  Report Card is designed to grade those parks, there

         24  are about 200 in our universe, on cleanliness,

         25  maintenance, structural integrity and safety. I'll
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          2  go into that a bit more.

          3                 The way in which you break down parks

          4  for our Report Card is into these eight major

          5  service areas.  In other words, these eight

          6  potential park components.  I want to emphasize that

          7  no park is ever penalized for not having a

          8  particular feature but rather the Report Card aims

          9  to assess from a park user's perspective the

         10  condition of those features.  To be sure that we

         11  were, in fact, looking at this from a user's

         12  perspective, we hosted a series of four focus groups

         13  as we were developing and also weighting (sic) these

         14  eight major service areas.

         15                 Moving on to how we collect our data.

         16    Only trained staff members work to collect data

         17  for the Report Card on Parks. Each surveyor goes

         18  through a two- day training that includes a seminar

         19  on all the survey materials as well as mock

         20  inspections. Our surveys are always conducted from

         21  June to August.  As you can see, our surveyors use

         22  hand- held computers and digital cameras to document

         23  all of the performance data that we collect.

         24                 To speak very briefly on the four

         25  years of data that we have now collected, I'll go
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          2  over some city- wide trends and also give you a

          3  sense of how the boroughs have performed in our

          4  Report Card inspections.  I'm presenting an

          5  abbreviated version here but you do have a copy of

          6  the full Report Card in your packets as well as a

          7  copy of a second publication that I'll talk about in

          8  a moment.

          9                 We've documented both successes and

         10  challenges in the years that we've been doing the

         11  Report Card.  As you can see, the city- wide average

         12  continues to improve.  In the last four Report

         13  Cards, the city- wide average was a B-.  One of the

         14  major success stories of the Report Card is the

         15  increased performance of bathrooms which was the

         16  lowest rated feature when we first started our

         17  inspections at 48% jumped to 74%.  Since then,

         18  that's largely due to the Parks Department targeted

         19  maintenance efforts through their Operation Relief

         20  Program and some features have consistently

         21  performed well such as playgrounds.

         22                 There are challenges.  There are some

         23  features for which we have documented poor

         24  conditions in all the years we've been out.  Those

         25  include drinking fountains and athletic fields.
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          2  We're starting to notice some slipping pathways and

          3  sitting areas. Maintenance has always been a

          4  challenge and that includes litter and other

          5  cleanliness measures.  In one of the more disturbing

          6  trends that we're tracking now is the growing

          7  disparity between the highest and the lowest

          8  performing parks

          9                 To speak a little bit more to that

         10  point, you can see on the slide here we've graphed

         11  our average A over the three years that we've

         12  tracked parks through the Report Card and our the

         13  average A has remained relatively stable 94 and 95

         14  but, although there are fewer parks that are scoring

         15  F's in the Report Card, those that are remaining at

         16  that level of performance are slipping. So, we're

         17  really seeing this dramatic gap between the highest

         18  and the lowest performers.

         19                 Switching to a borough perspective.

         20  These two charts, the one on the top gives you the

         21  average borough score over all three years of data

         22  collection.  The custom chart breaks down D's and

         23  F's by borough.  That's just for the 2005 year.  As

         24  you can see, Brooklyn and the Bronx have been the

         25  lowest performers historically in all of the years
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          2  that we've been collecting data. In 2005, those two

          3  boroughs were home to 60% of the D and F parks that

          4  we tracked.

          5                 Manhattan and Queens perform very

          6  similarly. Together they were home to another 32% of

          7  D and F parks.  Although they average similarly,

          8  they have very different distributions. Manhattan

          9  tends to have very good parks.  In fact, the two

         10  best in the City, in our Report Card, and some very

         11  low performing parks. Queens tends to be much more

         12  tightly distributed 70s, 80, and 90s.

         13                 Staten Island has always been a

         14  strong performer. The only borough to have received

         15  an A in the Report Card and that was in 2005.

         16                 Switching perspective, I'll now talk

         17  a little bit about the project we undertook last

         18  summer which was the Mini Report Card on Parks and

         19  that's not just because we had small people doing

         20  the survey that summer.  The three features that we

         21  tracked as part of the Mini were those that were

         22  chronically in need that we documented as in poor

         23  condition in the first three years of the Report

         24  Card.  So, we focused on those three, as you can

         25  see, athletic fields, bathroom and drinking
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          2  fountains.

          3                 We undertook the Mini Report Card for

          4  a couple of reasons.  The first was primarily to

          5  test our own results.  To make sure that the

          6  conditions that we were reflecting in these features

          7  were accurately representing what was happening in

          8  the field.  We wanted to monitor changes over time.

          9  Our Report Card is usually just one hit per summer

         10  but we went out three separate times for each of

         11  these.  Certainly, to come up with refined

         12  maintenance recommendations based on a more robust

         13  inspection system.

         14                 What we found, very briefly, was

         15  right in line with what the previous report cards

         16  had documented.  You also have a copy of the Mini

         17  Report Card in your packets.  So, I'll speak very

         18  briefly.  Drinking fountains and athletic fields,

         19  unfortunately, started out in poor condition and got

         20  progressively worse over the course of the summer

         21  averaging 40% and 53% respectively. Bathrooms,

         22  however, continue to show improvement.  They were

         23  right on par with what they had scored in 2005

         24  Report Card.  They were open and available for use

         25  more often than the summers past. Again, a testament
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          2  to the effectiveness of the Operation Relief

          3  Program.  And with that I will turn it back over to

          4  Christian to discuss our policy recommendations.

          5                 MR. DI PALERMO:  I first would like

          6  to let the Committee know that every time we put out

          7  a Report Card, before we put it out we brief the

          8  Parks Department and we do give a copy to the

          9  Council.  I will say that the Parks Department

         10  deserves a lot of credit.  They perform minor

         11  miracles every day trying to keep the 28,000 acres

         12  of park land maintained well.  The problem is that

         13  we have not invested in this park land on the

         14  maintenance side. While we may not have always

         15  agreed, and even park users may not agree that a

         16  park is an F or a C, at least we're now having the

         17  conversation.

         18                 So, how can the City Council, since

         19  that's where we are today, improve parks services.

         20  Well we think the dance should end.  Baseline and

         21  increase critical goal programs in the Parks budget.

         22    We had a whole discussion today, back and forth,

         23  with a lot of Council Members about pruning.  We're

         24  talking $2 million and a $55 billion dollar budget.

         25  Just baseline it and let's move on to the other
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          2  needs.  We don't have to have that dance very

          3  spring.  We should just be doing it.

          4                 Expand the Neighborhood Parks

          5  initiative and Operation Relief.  What we want to do

          6  there is we've seen, over the last three years and

          7  really it's due to the Commissioner but we know who

          8  implements it is Deputy Commissioner Liam Kavanagh

          9  Operation Relief has had an effect and it has

         10  improved all of our parks and they should be

         11  commended for that.

         12                 We think that you should use this

         13  model to develop new initiatives such as targeting

         14  athletic fields.  We were out there this summer.

         15  Sure you can have a drought and it's difficult to

         16  maintain because we don't always have the water

         17  supplies.  But our athletic fields can't be dust all

         18  over the place.  They have to be- where there's

         19  supposed to be green grass there's gotta be green

         20  grass.  We know there are special challenges,

         21  specially with soccer fields but with baseball

         22  fields it should be able to be achieved.  Obviously,

         23  using Operation Relief as they are we hope to see an

         24  improvement in drinking fountains.

         25                 Fund and expand the Neighborhood
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          2  Parks initiative. For many who don't know, the

          3  Neighborhood Parks initiative, as Commissioner

          4  Kavanagh mentioned, is a partnership between the

          5  City of New York, Central Park Conservancy, City

          6  Park Foundation and New Yorkers for Parks and most

          7  especially when the capital side it is with the City

          8  Council.

          9                 This past summer, there were 30 full-

         10  time gardeners trained and placed during year one.

         11  What's the concept behind Neighborhood Parks

         12  initiative?  It's putting a fixed personnel in the

         13  park.  In the old days we called it the parky in the

         14  park. What we have seen in Central Park and we've

         15  talked about a lot of money going into Central Park

         16  and boy that helps.  But Central Park went to a

         17  zoned gardening model where they have a fixed

         18  personnel gardener for each zone of Central Park.

         19                 We want to bring that back to the

         20  Neighborhood Parks we started this summer and we saw

         21  a significant increase and improvement in the

         22  maintenance.  As you can see, the City Council has

         23  put more than $12 million to this project.  We'd

         24  like to see it continue.  The Mayor has put in a

         25  million five in maintenance and we've raised over
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          2  $750,000.  Again, private funds- we shouldn't be

          3  scared of private funds but they should not be the

          4  justification for cuts.  They should be for

          5  increased and enhancements of services.  Our goal

          6  for the City Council should be two gardeners in each

          7  Council district within the next five years.

          8                 Other items.  Concession reform.

          9  Thank you to you two Members who have introduced a

         10  bill.  National parks, state parks all get to keep

         11  their concessions.  New York City parks keep zero.

         12  That's not fair to the Department, that's not fair

         13  to the park users.  We should be able to access some

         14  of the more than $60 million that come in annually;

         15  should go back to the parks where they're being

         16  generated.  How do you solve the pruning issue?  You

         17  keep $2 million in concessions.

         18                 Formalize the JTP retention.  Again,

         19  we think annually hiring the top 5% of participants

         20  for permanent positions is a good thing to do.  It

         21  would be about 20 additional workers per year.

         22  That's less than $1 million annually.  What are we

         23  talking about here?  You have a program where people

         24  are coming in and out of the system every three

         25  weeks to six months with no promise of working in
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          2  the department that they're being trained for.  It

          3  doesn't make sense.  We should use some common sense

          4  and be able to hire these people.

          5                 Also, we'd like to see a city- wide

          6  open space plan. As you know, we've been championing

          7  1% for parks for many years now.  What exactly would

          8  that go and pay for?  We need an open space plan

          9  that starts with community input and ends with good

         10  planning sound principles and then we'll know- have

         11  a good business plan- and then we can work to

         12  funding that plan.

         13                 So, thank you for giving us the extra

         14  time.  We're available for any questions.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Thank you.  Let

         16  me just thank New Yorkers for Parks for all you do.

         17  Allison and I email each other.  It's helpful to me

         18  because I'm smart enough to know that I don't know

         19  as much as I need to when it comes to parks.  Thank

         20  you for thanking me for being Parks Chair again.

         21  During this whole other dance with the Speaker,

         22  people are like what do you want?  I just wanted to

         23  stay at Parks.  I enjoy it.  But, let me ask a

         24  question.  How does New Yorkers for Parks criteria

         25  for judging a park differ from the way the Parks
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          2  Department may judge or rate a park?

          3                 MS. LOUT:  It's essentially a break

          4  down of features in a different way.  We developed

          5  our survey mechanism to reflect the standards of the

          6  Parks Department as best as possible.  I hope

          7  they're still here and can help me with this.  But,

          8  it is my understanding that, for example, the Parks

          9  Department would look at a feature like weeds or

         10  glass throughout the park.  Whereas, we look at

         11  those particular features in each section of the

         12  park that we look at.  So, we would look at glass on

         13  courts and then glass on athletic fields and then

         14  come up with a rating for each of those features.

         15  Whereas, their rating systems looks more broadly

         16  across the entire park facility or zone, as it

         17  where.  So, the results are organized in a slightly

         18  different way but are tracking essentially the same

         19  kinds of maintenance conditions.  And, of course,

         20  their's is based on an acceptable/unacceptable

         21  rating system where we give a score based on a

         22  series of questions.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  So, is it fair

         24  to characterize your criteria as being more specific

         25  and more in depth- and I'm not trying to say better
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          2  or worse.  For example, their's may be the park as a

          3  whole where you break it down to the athletic field

          4  versus the playground.

          5                 MS. LOUT:  Certain features in the

          6  parks inspection program are based on park

          7  components so they do track athletic fields, if I'm

          8  not mistaken.

          9                 MR. DI PALERMO:  I would say that

         10  when you look at the Parks Inspection Program, which

         11  is nationally recognized, it's a risk assessment

         12  tool.  That's how it originated.  It has evolved but

         13  it is a risk assessment tool.  So, if we go into a

         14  playground and we see a volt loose on a slide.  That

         15  would not score so poorly on ours as it would the

         16  Parks Department which says, okay a child can get

         17  seriously injured here.

         18                 The other way of looking at it in the

         19  past has been when we go by a comfort station and

         20  the sign says it's open 9 to 5 and it's closed.

         21  Well, that's going to get penalized heavily from us.

         22    In the past, the Parks Department-

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Meaning it's

         24  closed during the 9 to 5- okay

         25                 MR. DI PALERMO: - during the time the
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          2  sign says it's supposed to be open.  The Parks

          3  Department would go by and say well we can't

          4  actually rate that comfort station because it's

          5  closed.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  I got you.  So,

          7  in areas on page three where you say the challenges

          8  in terms of the declining with the drinking

          9  fountains, athletic field, pathways, seating areas-

         10  page three, the bottom, where it says successes and

         11  challenges.  Are those specific areas that New

         12  Yorkers for Parks looks at but the Parks Department

         13  doesn't break down specifically. If you know.

         14                 MS. LOUT:  The Parks Department does

         15  break those down specifically, as well.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  They do.  So, do

         17  you know if your Report Card is in line with the

         18  Parks Department in terms of what they say is

         19  acceptable.

         20                 MS. LOUT:  I do have a copy of the

         21  preliminary MMR which just came out.  In some

         22  instances, the results to match up and in some

         23  instances they do not.  So, we would need to take a

         24  closer look at the similarities and differences.

         25  Their's is essentially an effective management tool,
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          2  whereas, ours is intended to present it from the

          3  public's perspective.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay.  And then

          5  on page six, when you talk about baseline and

          6  increased critical programs, how do you define the

          7  critical programs.  I know you mentioned tree

          8  pruning on page seven; the seasonal workers; tree

          9  maintenance and park enforcement patrol.  Are those

         10  the specific programs that you see need to be

         11  baselined or are there others?

         12                 MR. DI PALERMO:  I think beginning by

         13  baselining those are, we think, the priority.  We

         14  think the Council has spoken and they represent the

         15  51 Council Districts as we've spoken years in and

         16  years out and those of what you're putting there.

         17  So, we think those are critical programs that should

         18  be baselined and we think that additional

         19  programming should be funded with new funds.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And my last

         21  question, can you explain to me further the city-

         22  wide open space plan.

         23                 MR. DI PALERMO:  Well, when you look

         24  at examples like Seattle and Chicago, they have

         25  city- wide open space plans versus just master
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          2  plans.  We set goals for like density, how many

          3  people- could you help me with that one?- with the

          4  like-

          5                 MS. LOUT:  Many of the open space

          6  plans set up a goal of making sure that there is a

          7  certain size amount of open space available to every

          8  resident of its city within a certain walking

          9  distance.  Cities may make different determinations

         10  about just how large that space should be or just

         11  how far that distance should be able to go off and

         12  make a city- wide determination that everyone

         13  deserves access in this particular way and then

         14  build a plan for enhancing open space in various

         15  communities based on who is and isn't meeting those

         16  standards.

         17                 MR. DI PALERMO:  And what we're

         18  noticing, for example with the Yankee Stadium

         19  situation, is that the development comes in first

         20  and then we're talking about the effect it will have

         21  and the mitigation on parks and open spaces as

         22  opposed to having a plan already there that the

         23  community would like to see and then you can,

         24  hopefully, make a let's say a more prudent

         25  development.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  In the cities

          3  that have an open space plan and, for the record,

          4  you brought Yankee Stadium up, I didn't so.

          5                 MR. DI PALERMO:  I did.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And this is my

          7  opinion.  I am the elected official that lives

          8  closest.  In this sense I feel that we're motivated

          9  by money and Yankee Stadium, you know, the richest

         10  sports franchise in the United States, second in the

         11  world.  So in these cities that have open space

         12  plan, how have they balanced that with-

         13                 MR. DI PALERMO:  Well Chicago is

         14  developing.  We didn't stop developing in Chicago

         15  and it's not to say you can't have an exception from

         16  the open space plan.  What it does is it gives

         17  guidance and it can diffuse a tense situation by the

         18  developers saying I've read your open space plan,

         19  this is what you want over here, this is how I want

         20  to bring in a development.  It doesn't make sense it

         21  we put a park on the waterfront and we just move the

         22  park from here.  A park may be in an industrial

         23  area, let's leave Yankee Stadium for a second.  It

         24  may be in an industrial area that does not have a

         25  lot of residents about it. Let's take Brooklyn, now
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          2  Brooklyn has other growing communities that may need

          3  a playground.  So, do we figure how to get that

          4  playground there and either swap or just try to

          5  obtain that extra land.

          6                 MS. LOUT:  And that allows

          7  communities to be more proactive rather than

          8  reactive if there is already a built- in plan that

          9  is agreed upon and can be worked on.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  And cities that

         11  have this in place are Chicago and Seattle?

         12                 MR. DI PALERMO:  And smaller

         13  municipalities also but I just wanted to give you

         14  analogies of at least close to New York.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  Okay.

         16  Interesting.

         17                 MR. DI PALERMO:  We's love to provide

         18  you with more detail.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  That would be

         20  very interesting. I think that often, specially with

         21  parks and development, we're always put in a

         22  reactive state where we have to fight to have a park

         23  near the people as opposed to on the water where you

         24  have no way to access it.  Or you could put, for

         25  example, a stadium near the water and then the
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          2  community wouldn't have to worry about access cause

          3  our parks would be where we can access it.  Those

          4  who want to go to the stadium could get there.

          5                 Council Member Addabbo do you have

          6  questions?

          7

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Yes, thank

          9  you Chairwoman Foster.

         10                 To New Yorkers for Parks, thanks for

         11  being here but also thanks for the work throughout

         12  the year that you do for Parks and being one of our

         13  main advocates in the City for our Parks.  We

         14  appreciate your efforts.

         15                 You know I look at your Report Card

         16  and then I think about the over $2 billion surplus

         17  that we have in the City and I think about it with a

         18  sense of optimism, the future of our parks and what

         19  could we do to improve them.  But, in looking at the

         20  Report Card and thinking about the money that we may

         21  be able to spend and maintain and improve them,

         22  would you like to see from the Parks Department sort

         23  of like a game plan or a blue print or some type of

         24  strategy for future spending.  This way when the

         25  money does come into the hands of the Parks
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          2  Department that they can spend it, we'd like to know

          3  where it's being spent- almost like a strategy for

          4  the, again, for the optimism of spending in the

          5  future.  Would you like to see that?

          6                 MR. DI PALERMO:  Sure.  We would hope

          7  that an open space planning would be the impetus or

          8  a catalyst for that and that, again, it would be

          9  community led and then you would have the planners,

         10  the designers come in and take it to the next level.

         11  But you definitely want to have a formal community

         12  and public process.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Maybe you

         14  can get together with the Parks Department-

         15                 MR. DI PALERMO:  We'd love to.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  And

         17  obviously go from community to community-

         18                 MR. DI PALERMO:  Again, last year we

         19  did do that, I think it was last year, it could have

         20  been the year before, at borough meetings that we

         21  held for their ten- year capital plan.  I think a

         22  more in depth workshops would go a long way.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  I am also

         24  pleased to see that you and the Parks Department are

         25  working well together and, again, who benefits by
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          2  it?  The people of the City.  So, thank you very

          3  much.  Thank you Madam Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER:  As always thank

          5  you and I look forward as we keep going to continue

          6  the dialogue and let me thank Deputy Commissioner

          7  Kavanagh and Ms. King for staying cause often after

          8  the City testifies, they're gone and they don't

          9  often get to hear what the other side or someone

         10  else has to say.  So, thank you for saying.

         11                 And, there being no more testimony,

         12  this meeting is adjourned.  Thank you.

         13                 (Hearing concluded at 2:45 p.m.)

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            85

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, INGRID SAEZ, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 13th day of February 2006.

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          INGRID SAEZ

                                                            86

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, INGRID SAEZ, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22                 -----------------------

                              INGRID SAEZ

         23

         24

         25

